1	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2		
3	DEVON RAY HOCKEMIER, No. 68333	
4	Appellant, ) Electronically Filed Dec 10 2015 01:34	n m
5	VS. Tracie K. Lindeman	ı[·
6	THE STATE OF NEVADA, Clerk of Supreme C	ourt
7	Respondent.	
8		
9		
10	APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF	
11	APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION	
12		
13	FOURTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF ELKO	
14		
15	SHERBURNE M. MACFARLAN, III JEFFREY C. SLADE Nev. Bar # 3999	
16	Nev. Bar # 3999 LOCKIE & MACFARLAN, LTD. 919 Idaho Street Elko, Nevada 89801 (775) 738-8084  Nev. Bar # 13249 ELKO CO, DISTRICT ATTORNEY 540 Court Street, 2 <sup>nd</sup> Floor Elko, Nevada 89801 (775) 738-3101

### I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction entered pursuant to pleas o
guilty to two counts of LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE
A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230. App., p. 33.
Judgment of Conviction was filed on Jun 9, 2015. App., p. 33. A Notice of Appea
was filed on June 29, 2015. App., p. 37. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to
NRAP 4(b) and NRS 177.015(3).

## II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 28, 2014, a Criminal Information was filed charging Mr. Hockemier with:

COUNT 1: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3).

In the alternative to Count 1

COUNT 2: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230.

In the alternatives to Counts 1 and 2

- COUNT 3: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.210.
- COUNT 4: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3)

In the alternative to Count 4

COUNT 5: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230.

In the alternative to Counts 4 and 5

- COUNT 6: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.210
- COUNT 7: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3)

In the alternative to Count 7

COUNT 8: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A

To do 10 to 0 C to 0 C 10
In the alternative to Counts 7 and 8
COUNT 9: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.210.
COUNT 10: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3).
In the alternative to Count 10
COUNT 11: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230.
In the alternative to Count 10 and 11
COUNT 12: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201,210.
COUNT 13: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3).
In the alterative to Count 13
COUNT 14: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230.
In the alternative to Counts 13 and 14
COUNT 15: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.210.
COUNT 16: SEXUAL ASSAULT ON A CHILD UNDER THE AGE OF 14 YEARS, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.366(3).
In the alterative to Count16
COUNT 17: LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.230.
In the alternative to Counts 16 and 17
COUNT 18: OPEN OR GROSS LEWDNESS, A GROSS MISDEMEANOR AS DEFINED BY NRS 201.210.
COUNT 19: KIDNAPPING IN THE FIRST DEGREE, A CATEGORY A FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.310(1).
In the alternative to Count 19
COUNT 20: KIDNAPPING IN THE SECOND DEGREE, A CATEGORY B

## FELONY AS DEFINED BY NRS 200.310(2).

App., p. 1. An Amended Memorandum of Plea Agreement was filed on February 18, 2015. App., p. 10. The Agreement contemplated that the parties would be free to argue for any sentences they deemed appropriate, including whether the sentences should be run concurrently or consecutively. App., p. 10. On March 16, 2015, Mr. Hockemier entered pleas of guilty to Counts 2 and 14 of the Criminal Information, both counts being LEWDNESS WITH A CHILD UNDER 14 YEARS OF AGE. App., p. 33. Sentencing occurred on May 21, 2015. On Count 2, Mr Hockemier was sentence to life in prison with the possibility of parole after 10 years, with credit for 339 days previously served. On Count 14, he was sentenced to life in prison with the possibility of parole after 10 years, said sentence to run consecutively with the sentence for Count 2. App., p. 34.

## III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

# A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RUNNING APPELLANT'S TWO SENTENCES CONSECUTIVELY RATHER THAN CONCURRENTLY.

### IV. STATEMENT OF FACTS

As noted above, the Criminal Information was filed on August 29, 2014. The offenses were alleged to have occurred "from on or about the 1<sup>st</sup> day of September, 2009, to on or about the 28<sup>th</sup> day of February, 2010." App., p. 1. Mr. Hockemier, whose date of birth is November 24, 1992, was seventeen (17) years of age when the offenses occurred. App., p. 18.

The victim in Count 2 of the Criminal Information was identified as "O.M." Count 14 of the Information identified the victim for that count as "S.B." App., p. 2, 6.

After Mr. Hockemier had entered his pleas of guilty on March 16, 2015, the Division of Parole and Probation (P&P) prepared a Presentence Investigation Report (PSI). App., p. 17. At the conclusion of the report P & P recommended that the

1 2

3 4 5

6 7 8

9 10

11 12

13 14

15 16

17 18

19 20

21 22

23 24

25 26

27

28

sentences for Counts 2 and 14 of the Criminal Information be run concurrently. App., p. 25.

At the sentencing hearing, the State called two witnesses: Hydie Overhooser and Charles Bridge. App., p. 45, 49. Ms. Overhooser is the mother of O.M. and the step-mother of S.B. App., p. 46. Mr. Bridge is the father of S.B. and the step-father of O.M. App., p. 50. Both parents recommended that the two sentences be run consecutively. App., p. 48, 51. The State also recommended that the sentences be run consecutively, while the defense argued for concurrent sentences. App., p. 55, 60. At the conclusion of the sentencing hearing, Judge Porter ordered that the two sentences be run consecutively. App., p. 63,34.

### V. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

# THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN RUNNING THE SENTENCES CONSECUTIVELY RATHER THAN CONCURRENTLY.

NRS 176.035(1) provides that a District Court has the discretion to run two or more sentences concurrently or consecutively with each other. Appellant recognizes that, normally, a sentence within statutory limits will not be disturbed on appeal unless the sentencing court relied on "highly suspect or impalpable information." Smith v. State, 112 Nev. 871, 873 (1996); Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94 (1976). In the instant case, the sentences imposed were within the statutory limits. However, the district court appeared to have simply ignored the recommendations made by both the defense counsel and the Division of Parole and Probation (PSI).

Of greatest concern to Appellant is that the sentencing court appears to have simply disregarded P & P's recommendation. Recommendations by P &P are not binding on the sentencing court. See Etcheverry v. State, 107 Nev. 782, 786 (1991). However, the upward deviation in this case was so dramatic that it can only be deduced that the lower court failed to give any weight or credence to the recommendation in the PSI.

It is Appellant's position that P & P is the entity with the greatest ability to

6

7 8

9

10 11

12

13

14

1516

....

17

18 19

20

2122

2324

25

26

2728

determine an appropriate sentencing structure. It was P & P's position that the appropriate structure was to have the two sentences be run concurrent. By ignoring this recommendation, and imposing the maximum sentence, the lower court abused its discretion in sentencing Appellant. Thus the matter should be remanded for an new sentencing hearing.

### VI. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, Appellant respectfully requests that the Court reverse and remand his case to the District Court for a new sentencing hearing.