1				
2			i	
3	IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA			
4		Electronically Fi Jan 11 2016 11	22 a.m.	
5		Tracie K. Linder Clerk of Suprem		
6	DEVON RAY HOCKEMIER,			
7	Ammallant	CASE NO 60222		
8	Appellant,	CASE NO. 68333		
9	vs.			
10	THE STATE OF NEVADA,			
11 12	Danie and dant			
13	Respondent	•		
14	Appeal From The Fou	rth Judicial District Court		
15	Of The State of Nevada			
16	In And For The County Of Elko			
17	RESPONDENT'S	ANSWERING BRIEF		
18	THE HONORABLE ADAM PAUL LAXALT			
19	ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEVADA 100 N. CARSON STREET			
20	CARSON CITY, NV 89701			
21	MARK TORVINEN	SHERBURNE M. MACFARLAN III		
22	Elko County District	919 Idaho St.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE		
11	STATEMENT OF THE FACTS		
12			
13	ARGUMENT		
14			
15	I. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT RELY ON HIGHLY SUSPECT OR		
16	IMPALPABLE INFORMATION WHEN IT SENTENCED HOCKEMIER TO TWO CONSECUTIVE 10 TO LIFE TERMS OF IMPRISONMENT. FURTHER, ITS		
17	CHOOSING TO NOT FOLLOW THE RECOMMENDATION OF PAROLE AND		
18	PROBATION DOES NOT EVIDENCE AN ABUSE OF		
19	DISCRETION8 -10		
20			
21	CONCLUSION11		
22	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE		
23			
24	AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE13		
25			
26			
27			
28	2		

1	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
2	
3	PAGE NO.
4	Cases
5	Castillo v. State, 110 Nev. 535, 544, 874 P.2d 1252, 1258(1994)8
6	Lloyd v. State9
7	<u>Lloyd v. State</u> , 94 Nev. 167, 576 P.2d 740(1978)9
8	NRS 201.2305
9	Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94 (1976)
10	Smith v. State, 112 Nev. 871, 873 (1996)
11	Wood v. State, 110 Nev. 428, 892 P.2d 944(1995))8
12	
13	Statutes
14	NRS 201.2305
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21 22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	3

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

I. Whether the District Court erred by imposing consecutive sentences rather than concurrent sentences.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1	
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18 19	
19	

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction (upon pleas of guilty) of two counts of Lewdness With a Child Under 14 Years of Age, violations of NRS 201.230. Fourth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Nancy Porter, District Judge.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State does not dispute Hockemier's Statement of Facts, but does need to make the following additions as they are relevant to the State's answer:

The presentence investigation report includes Hockemier's admission to sexually abusing *two* victims. (JA, p.23, 24). It also includes the psychosexual evaluation prepared in this case. (JA, p.27-32).

O.M. was 6 years old when abused by Hockemier and S.B. was 10 years old. (JA, p.23). When interviewed by law enforcement O.M. remembered Hockemier covering O.M.'s mouth so he could not yell. (JA, p.22).

One of the first things covered in the sentencing hearing was Parole and Probation's recommendation of concurrent sentences. The District Court placed this recommendation on the record and confirmed that Hockemier understood this recommendation. (JA, p. 41).

In addition to discussing Parole and Probation's recommendation and hearing defense counsel's argument, the district court also heard from Hockemier, who likewise requested concurrent time. (JA, p.60, 61).

When it came time to make a ruling, the district court began by agreeing with defense counsel's assertion that these types of cases are very difficult. (JA, p.61). It went on to state that it "struggled with" what its decision should be, "for the reasons stated by *both* attorneys." (JA, p.62) (emphasis added).

After ruling that the sentences would run consecutively, the District Court stated, "I am very mindful of the fact that I've just told a 22-year-old he's going to be in prison until he's at least 41 years old. I wish it didn't have to be that way, but it's my judgment that it does." (JA, p.65).

The hearing ended with the District Court expressing hope that Hockemier would follow through with his stated intent to get help while in prison and to, "find some way to make a positive life for [himself] while [he] is there." (JA, p.66).

///

28 || 1

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

I. The District Court did not rely on highly suspect or impalpable information when it sentenced Hockemier to two consecutive 10 to life terms of imprisonment. Further, its choosing to not follow the recommendation of Parole and Probation does not evidence an abuse of discretion.

"[T]he trial court has wide discretion in imposing a sentence, and unless there is a showing of abuse of discretion, the sentence will be upheld." Castillo v. State, 110 Nev. 535, 544, 874 P.2d 1252, 1258(1994).(overruled on other grounds by Wood v. State, 110 Nev. 428, 892 P.2d 944(1995)).

A. No Highly Suspect or Impalpable Information Was Relied On.

Hockemier's Brief correctly states that a sentence kept within statutory limits will not be disturbed provided that the district court's decision was not based on "highly suspect or impalpable information."

Smith v. State, 112 Nev. 871, 873 (1996).; Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94 (1976).

His brief then makes no mention of any highly suspect or impalpable information being relied on.²

Quite to the contrary, the reliable information which served as a basis for the district court's decision included: Hockemier's admission to

¹ Appellant's Opening Brief (AOB),8p. 4.

² AOB, p. 4.

sexually abusing *two* victims;³ the psychosexual evaluation;⁴ the fact that his victims were 6 and 10 years old;⁵ and that during the abuse of the year old, Hockemier placed his hand over the child's mouth to prevent the child from yelling.⁶

B. No Abuse of Discretion

Hockemier's Brief characterizes the district court's decision as "dramatic." Doubling the recommendation by Parole and Probation is, however, much less "dramatic" than quintupling it. In Lloyd v. State, the District Court did just that when it sentenced Lloyd to 30 years rather than the 6 recommended by Parole and Probation. See Lloyd v. State, 94 Nev. 167, 576 P.2d 740(1978). Even this truly "dramatic" decision was found by this court to *not* be an abuse of discretion. Id. This makes sense in light of the fact that a District Court is not bound by the recommendations of Parole and Probation. See Collins v. State, 88 Nev. 168, 494 P.2d 956(1972).

Hockemier's Brief contends that the District Court ignored the

³ JA, p.23, 24.

⁴ JA, p. 27-32.

⁵ JA, p. 23.

⁶ JA, p. 22.

⁷ AOB, p. 4.

recommendations of both defense counsel and Parole and Probation.⁸

This contention lacks merit for the following three reasons:

First, the District Court began the sentencing hearing by not only placing on the record Parole and Probation's recommendation, but went so far as to confirm that Hockemier understood it.⁹

Second, the District Court not only heard, but carefully acknowledged the argument of defense counsel. In reaching its decision, the District Court set a balanced and somber tone by agreeing with defense counsel's framing of the decision as a difficult one.¹⁰ Rather than simply giving a token acknowledgement of the defense counsel's argument, the District Court went so far as to say it wished it did not have to tell a 22 year old that he would be in prison until he was at least 41 years old.¹¹

Third, the District Court ended the hearing by coming back to Hockemier's stated intent to get help while in prison by expressing hope that he would.¹²

⁸ AOB, p. 5.

⁹ JA, p. 41. ¹⁰ JA, p.62.

¹¹ JA, p.65.

¹² JA, p.66.

1	l
2	
3	
4	
5	
6	
7	
8	
9	
10	
11	
12	
13	
14	
15	
16	
17	
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	

CONCLUSION

It is respectfully submitted that the District Court did not err when it sentenced Hockemier to consecutive sentences. Accordingly, the State requests that the District Court's decision be affirmed.